SUP. CT. No. 90431-6
COA No. 69837-1-I

SUPREME COURT
OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

LANE POWELL, P.C., an Oregon professional
corporation,

Respondent,

v.

MARK DeCOURSEY and CAROL DeCOURSEY,
individually and the marital community composed thereof,

Petitioners.

FILED
COURT OF APPEALS DIV 1
STATE OF WASHINGTON
2014 JUN 17 PM 3:59
09

PETITION FOR REVIEW

James E. Lobsenz
CARNEY BADLEY SPELLMAN, P.S.
701 Fifth Avenue, Suite 3600
Seattle, Washington 98104-7010
Telephone: (206) 622-8020
Facsimile: (206) 467-8215
Attorneys for Petitioners

FILED
JUN 30 2014

CLERK OF THE SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
CDF

A. IDENTITY OF PETITIONERS

Mark and Carol DeCoursey, seek the relief designated below.

B. DECISION BELOW

Petitioners seek review of the unpublished decision issued below on April 21, 2014. (Appendix A). The Court of Appeals denied a timely motion to publish on May 19, 2014. (Appendix B).

C. ISSUES PRESENTED

1. Is judicial recusal required in a case when one of the parties previously brought suit against the employer of the judge's spouse and won a total judgment of over \$1 million against that employer?
2. Is judicial recusal required in a case where one of the parties is continuing to publicly campaign to persuade government agencies to bring civil enforcement actions against the employer of the judge's spouse, based on allegations that the employer routinely engages in illegal, unethical and deceptive acts?
3. Is judicial recusal required in a case where one of the parties is continuing to run a publicity campaign to warn potential customers against doing business with the employer of the judge's spouse, and the judge has a community property interest in the spouse's income and pension plan?
4. After a judge responds to a party's expression of doubts about the judge's ability to be impartial with the statement, "I don't think I have a conflict but I respect your concern," is judicial recusal required because the judge has acknowledged the reasonableness of the party's doubt?

D. INTRODUCTION

Because more and more judges have spouses who are active in professions and in politics, judges' marital relationships are giving rise to difficult questions regarding judicial disqualification due to an appearance of fairness or a due process concern. And yet there is a remarkable lack of precedent to guide judges and litigants grappling with these questions.

Although many reported Washington decisions address judicial recusal, until this year there was no published opinion addressing a recusal motion based upon the conduct or interests of a judge's spouse. Initially the opinion in that case was unpublished, but then Division II *granted* a motion to publish it. *Kok v. Tacoma Sch. District*, 179 Wn. App. 10, 317 P.3d 481 (2014). In the present case, Division I affirmed a trial court's refusal to grant a recusal motion in an unpublished decision, and they *denied* Petitioners' motion to publish. Precedent from other jurisdictions is equally rare.

Judges have been grappling with the issue of the appearance of bias for millennia. Under early Jewish law a judge was not allowed to hear any case in which a litigant was a kinsman, a friend, or someone whom the judge personally disliked. *Code of Maimonides*, Bk 14, ch. 23, 68-70 (trans. A. Hershman, 1949). Roman law was even stricter. The Code of Justinian provided: "Although a judge has been appointed by imperial power, yet because it is our pleasure that all litigations should proceed without suspicion, let it be permitted to him who thinks the judge under suspicion, to recuse him before issue is joined." *Corpus Juris Civilis*, Codex, lib. 3, tit. 1, no. 16. But despite centuries of dealing with the appearance of bias problem, there is little case law to guide a judge as to when disqualification is required:

[B]ecause reported cases in which appellate courts have ordered lower court judges to recuse themselves are, if not hen's teeth rare, very few and far between – the published opinions on this subject, far from accurately portraying the full spectrum of judicial thinking as to when a judge should recuse herself from hearing a

particular case or type of case, have been said to reflect little more than “an accumulating mound” of reasons for denying disqualification motions.

R. Flamm, *The History of Judicial Disqualification in America*, 52 JUDGES JOURNAL 12, 16 (2013).

It is well-settled that judges must recuse themselves “in a proceeding in which their impartiality might reasonably be questioned.” *State v. Gamble*, 168 Wn.2d 161, 187, 225 P.3d 973 (2010), quoting Code of Judicial Conduct, Canon 2.11(A). But while there is consensus that this is the test, there is a remarkable lack of consensus as to how to apply it, and in this case the Court of Appeals ultimately did *not* apply it.

This case poses questions as to how the test should be applied when one of the parties before a trial court has previously and successfully sued the company that employs the judge’s spouse, recovering a large money judgment, and thereafter has continued to wage a publicity campaign warning the public not to do business with the company. The party’s campaign against the employer can be expected to alienate the company’s employees, which includes the judge’s spouse, and is also likely to have a negative economic impact on the company’s business. Thus the litigants’ past and current conduct may also negatively impact the income of the judge’s spouse, and thus reduce the judge’s marital income.

In this case, the judge’s wife had been employed for years by Windermere Real Estate; she had earned hundreds of thousands of dollars as a Windermere employee, and she and the judge are beneficiaries of the Windermere Retirement Plan. The Petitioners had successfully sued

Windermere and had won a damages award of \$522,200 against it. CP 1420-22.¹ Moreover, for years the Petitioners had been making public statements that many of Windermere's agents engaged in dishonest and criminal acts, and that Windermere protects them from liability. Nevertheless, the Court of Appeals held that there was no need for the judge to recuse himself because the Petitioners had not personally accused the judge's wife of being one of those unscrupulous Windermere agents.² *Slip Opinion*, at 8.

Moreover, the Court of Appeals (1) denied Petitioners the opportunity to present oral argument; (2) denied their request to file a supplemental brief to address a Division Two opinion (*Kok*) which was published after regular briefing had been completed; and (3) denied Petitioners' motion to publish. Thus, the Court of Appeals greatly increased the perception that the courts are biased against litigants who raise appearance of fairness and due process claims against Washington trial judges.³

This Court has consistently "recognized the importance of appearances in preserving the integrity of our judicial system . . ." *Chic. & Milwaukee*

¹ When the award of attorneys' fees is added to the damages award, the total award was almost \$1 million. CP 1420-22.

² "No reasonable person knowing and understanding all the relevant facts would draw from the DeCourseys' hostility towards Windermere a personalized inference that the DeCourseys were accusing every single Windermere agent, including those such as Judge Eadie's wife who had no involvement in the previous litigation, of being an unscrupulous, unethical lawbreaker." *Slip Opinion*, at 8.

³ The appearance of fairness was also damaged by the law firm's repeated misrepresentation of material fact and the judge's incorporation of those misrepresentations into his rulings over the Decourseys' objections. CP 2712, 5105-06. Observers at a hearing also noted the appearance of prejudice. CP 5376, 5499, 5501, 5528.

RR Co. v. Human Rights Comm'n, 87 Wn.2d 802, 808, 557 P.2d 307 (1977). Judicial officers must conduct themselves “in such a manner as will beget no suspicion of the fairness and integrity of the judge.” *State ex rel. Barnard v. Bd of Educ.*, 19 Wash. 8, 18, 52 P. 317 (1898).

In this case, when Petitioners learned that the trial judge’s wife was employed by Windermere, and realized that the judge might take offense at the fact that they had devoted several years to publicizing Windermere’s misdeeds and unethical business practices, they immediately brought a recusal motion. At a subsequent hearing, the Petitioners explained why they doubted the judge’s ability to treat them fairly and impartially, and the judge responded, “I respect your concern.” RP 11/16/12 at 59. Despite this acknowledgment, the Court of Appeals held that the trial judge did not err in denying the recusal motion.

E. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

1. Petitioners’ Anti-Windermere Websites, Literature and Public Testimony.

Roughly one month after they were served, Petitioners filed two motions, one seeking “discovery protection” and the other asking for a discovery plan. CP 35-56, 5917-5996. Unaware of the fact that their trial judge was married to a Windermere broker, in these initial pleadings Petitioners described in detail their ongoing efforts to publicize the illegal and abusive practices of Windermere agents. They referenced their web page, <http://windermere-victims.com>, chronicling Windermere’s “habitual legal abuse of its customers.” CP 50. In their motion for a discovery plan,

Petitioners stated that they were outspoken opponents of Windermere and that they were campaigning to persuade governmental agencies to sanction Windermere for repeated violations of the licensing laws:

*In the course of researching for the [previous Windermere] suit, DeCourseys discovered that **Windermere agents had preyed on many other consumers**. Multiple courts recently have ruled that **Windermere was in violation of fiduciary, licensing, consumer protection, and other laws**. Yet despite many customer complaints and court decisions, **the Department of Licensing (“DOL”) typically refuses to discipline the offending agencies, brokers, and agents**.*

*DeCourseys have spoken and written about Windermere’s predatory business practices and the DOL’s refusal to enforce the licensing laws. DeCourseys have spoken before the Redmond City Council and testified before the Washington Legislature. DeCourseys have distributed flyers at public events and on the street, and have displayed signage in public areas, in the back window of their car, and on their front lawn. DeCourseys have appeared in the MSNBC special *Undercover Homewreckers*, which has been shown nationally at least ten (10) times and as recently as September 2011. DeCourseys’ Windermere case has been mentioned in various levels of detail on a number of web pages, and analyzed in the *Washington Free Press* and *Seattle Weekly*. For a number of years, DeCourseys have hosted two web sites dedicated to the subject. (*RenovationTrap.com* and *Windermere-Victims.com*). . . .*

DeCourseys had lengthy correspondence with Attorney General Rob McKenna’s office (“AGO”), asking him to take action to protect Washington’s citizens . . .

DeCourseys were instrumental in sparking a State Auditor’s investigation of the Department of Licensing. On information and belief, the Auditor’s report was completed in May 2011 but was blocked from publication by the AGO.

CP 5918-19 (emphasis added).

In support of their motion for a discovery plan Petitioners included an article they wrote entitled “Wide Open Government – for Big Business.”

CP 5951. In that article Petitioners asserted that “DOL refuses to enforce

the law on Windermere Real Estate, Washington's largest real estate company," and referred the reader to their two websites, including <http://Windermere-Victims.com>. CP 5951. The article asserted that "Windermere agents and brokers have done the following wrongful acts" and cited a list of misdeeds including forging signatures, exploiting a confused widow, defrauding a single mother of her home, and selling a house by concealing its history as an illegal methamphetamine factory. CP 5951-93. 5955-56.

In addition to the Windermere agent who had sold them their home (Paul Stickney), Petitioners' pamphlet named Windermere real estate agents and brokers Cheryl Jonet, Samantha Saul, Linda Gabelein, Sonya Eppig, George Rudiger and Lance Miller as the perpetrators of various unethical acts. CP 5951-5953, 5955-5956. Their pamphlet contained references to specific court cases (including their own) documenting the wrongful acts of these Windermere agents. CP 5952-5953.⁴ In another anti-Windermere pamphlet attached to their motion for a discovery plan, Petitioners described the conduct of the Department of Licensing and the Washington Attorney General as "Legalizing Crime in Washington" by declining to take enforcement action against Windermere. CP 5955. This pamphlet referred to still more court cases where Windermere agents had

⁴ The DeCourseys' pamphlet cited to *Kruger v. Windermere*, Cause No. 02-2-28184-2 SEA and 05-2-34433-4 SEA; *Doorish v. Windermere Real Estate*, Cause No. 08-2-42345-0 SEA; and *Bloor v. Fritz*, 143 Wn. App. 718, 180 P.3d 805 (2008).

been found to have engaged in wrongful conduct. CP 5956.⁵ Petitioners noted that the Department of Licensing issued a real estate license to a Spokane Windermere agent with robbery and theft convictions, and to another man who had been convicted of murder. CP 5955. Finally, Petitioners attached copies of letters they had written to the Attorney General, in which they complained that he had failed to act against Windermere. CP 5964.

Without recusing himself or disclosing that he was married to a Windermere broker, the trial court judge denied both of Petitioners' motions. CP 233, 504-05.⁶

2. Petitioners Moved for Recusal As Soon as They Discovered That The Trial Judge's Wife Was A Windermere Broker.

Roughly eight months later, on August 9, 2012, Petitioners filed a *Motion to Vacate and Recuse* in which they noted that they had just discovered that the judge's wife had been a Windermere real estate broker since 2003. CP 2708, 2717. They produced an internet ad they had just found which identified Claire Eadie as a Windermere real estate broker. CP 2723.⁷ They examined the judge's financial affairs statements on file with the Public Disclosure Commission for the years 2004 to 2011. They

⁵ In one case, the Court of Appeals affirmed the judgment that Windermere agents Gabelein and Saul exploited an incapacitated elderly woman by using undue influence to persuade her to sell them her property. *Endicott v. Saul*, 142 Wn. App. 899, 921, 176 P.3d 560 (2008) In *Ruebel v. Eppig*, 140 Wn. App. 1040 (2007), in an unpublished decision the Court affirmed the jury's verdict of breach of fiduciary duty and violation of the Consumer Protection Act by Windermere real estate agent Sonya Eppig.

⁶ Petitioners noted that the trial court permitted a remarkable number of irregularities in Lane Powell's favor. CP 2711.

⁷ A copy of the ad is attached as Appendix C.

learned that the judge's wife had received at least \$289,000 in Windermere commissions. CP 2708, 2717, 2725-2734.⁸ They also discovered that the Judge and his wife had assets in the Windermere Retirement Plan valued between \$40,000 and \$99,000. CP 2708-09, 2717, 2737.⁹ Finally, they learned that the judge and his wife had a family trust engaged in the "ownership and management of real estate." CP 2709, 2717, 2740.¹⁰ Petitioners filed their motion to vacate and recuse "[w]ithin three days of learning of Judge Eadie's apparent conflict of interest." CP 2760. On September 5, 2012, the Superior Court denied the motion for recusal on the ground that Windermere was not a party to the case and no one was making any claim against Windermere. CP 2924-25.¹¹

3. Discussion of the Sensitive Issue of the Judge's Connection to Windermere at the Summary Judgment Motion Hearing.

On November 16, 2012, the parties argued the law firm's motion for summary judgment. The Court of Appeals acknowledged that "Judge Eadie made comments during the hearing in which he recognized that his wife's occupation as a Windermere agent was a sensitive issue and he indicated that he would reevaluate whether deciding Lane Powell's

⁸ Copies of the first pages of these financial statements are attached as Appendix D.

⁹ A copy of the second page of the judge's 2011 financial statement, showing his interest in the "Windermere Retirement Plan and Spousal," is attached as Appendix E.

¹⁰ A copy of the Supplemental Page to the financial statement covering the year 2011 and containing disclosure of the Family Trust is attached as Appendix F.

¹¹ The Court of Appeals correctly held that the mere fact that Windermere was not a party to the case was not controlling. "*Liljeberg [v. Health Services, 486 U.S. 847 (1988)]* shows that a trial judge's connection to a nonparty that stands to benefit financially from the judge's decision may be sufficient to require recusal." *Slip Opinion*, at 8.

entitlement to attorney fees would put him in the position of evaluating the Windermere litigation.” *Slip Opinion*, at 4.

When the law firm’s attorney began to argue, the court interrupted him and directed him not to mention the facts of the prior Windermere case:

THE COURT: Mr. Sulkin, . . . ***I think that the issues of the Windermere lawsuit are sensitive in this case, and I don’t want any suggestion in this record that anything that I am doing here is affected at all by the facts of the Windermere lawsuit.*** So I’m going to ask you to skip over those facts.

RP 11/16/12, at 13-14 (emphasis added). The trial court judge then questioned counsel extensively about the obvious relationship between the law firm’s damages and the prior Windermere suit, and repeatedly mentioned “the Windermere litigation,” “the underlying Windermere case,” the law firm’s “performance in the Windermere case,” and “Windermere litigation fees” for which the law firm was seeking the court’s approval. RP 11/16/12, at 19-21.

Carol DeCoursey argued against the law firm’s summary judgment motion, and she engaged in a colloquy with the court. She politely stated that the fact that the judge’s wife worked for Windermere “doesn’t feel good” and again suggested that the judge should not be hearing the case:

And judge, I really do understand your sympathy with the issue of Windermere. It’s – we have done our very best to expose their unlawful actions and the corruption of the government agencies that allows them to have, you know, an unfair place in the marketplace. ***And I understand your wife works for them and you love her and she loves you and all of that, and we’re very sympathetic to that. But really, sir, it doesn’t look good and it doesn’t feel good and it doesn’t – it doesn’t – it doesn’t – it’s not good.***

RP 11/16/12, at 33-34 (emphasis added).

The trial judge replied that his wife was not involved with Stickney, the Windermere agent who had breached his fiduciary duties to the DeCourseys when they purchased their house. RP 11/16/12, at 34.¹²

Following this exchange the trial judge questioned the law firm's attorney further about the relationship between the fees that it was seeking in the suit before him and the prior Windermere lawsuit:

THE COURT: Excuse me. Just so I'm understanding as we go along. *Are those fees that you're asking me to look at to determine if I see anything wrong with them related to the Windermere litigation –*

MR. SULKIN: *Yes.*

THE COURT: -- *directly?*

MR. SULKIN: *Yes.*

RP 11/16/12, at 37 (emphasis added).

At the close of the hearing, the judge said he was going to do some more research and, depending upon what he found, he might refer the law firm's motion for fees in the Windermere case to another judge. He said if the law required him to evaluate the reasonableness of those fees, then

¹² The judge said his wife was "an independent agent like most are." *Id.* It is not clear what the judge meant to convey by describing his wife as an "independent agent." Every licensed real estate broker, such as Claire Eadie, is by law "a natural person acting on behalf of a real estate firm to perform real estate brokerage services under the supervision of a designated broker or managing broker." RCW 18.85.011(2) (italics added). The term "real estate firm" is also statutorily defined. RCW 18.85.011(17). Claire Eadie was listed on the "Windermere Real Estate" website as one of Windermere's agents. Her email address was given as ceadie@windermere.com. CP 2723. The asserted "independence" of Windermere franchises and brokers was rejected in *Rodriguez v. Windermere Real Estate*, 142 Wn. App. 833, 840, 175 P.3d 604 (2008), where the appellate court held that the mutually advantageous relationship between Windermere and its franchisees "diminishes the independence of the franchisees."

that's something that I am concerned would bring me into an evaluation of the Windermere litigation and ***put me in a position of an appearance that I shouldn't be doing that because of my wife's occupation as an independent agent working out of a Windermere office,*** going back and evaluating Windermere.

RP 11/16/12, at 57-58 (emphasis added). He concluded that if the law required him to independently review the Windermere litigation then "I may defer that to another judge." *Id.* at 58.

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