RECEIVED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
Jul 17, 2014, 3:52 pm
BY RONALD R. CARPENTER
CLERK

No. 90431-6 Court of Appeals, Division I No. 69837-1-I RECEIVED BY E-MAIL

## IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

LANE POWELL, P.C., an Oregon professional corporation,

Respondent,

v.

MARK DeCOURSEY and CAROL DeCOURSEY, individually and the marital community composed thereof,

Petitioners.

### RESPONDENT LANE POWELL, P.C.'S ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

One Union Square 600 University, 27th Fl. Seattle, WA 98101-3143 (206) 467-1816 McNAUL EBEL NAWROT & HELGREN PLLC

Robert M. Sulkin WSBA No. 15425 Malaika M. Eaton WSBA No. 32837

Attorneys for Respondent



###

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

When Lane Powell propounded discovery requests relevant to the DeCourseys' malpractice claims, they refused to produce massive amounts of relevant responsive documents on the claim that they were still entitled to maintain an attorney-client privilege over their communications with Lane Powell in the underlying lawsuit. CP 171-81, 815-22. The DeCourseys filed two, largely duplicative, motions seeking protection for these documents. CP 5917-25, 5997-6007, 36-54. Lane Powell opposed on the basis that the DeCourseys had waived the privilege due to the

nature of their counterclaims against Lane Powell. CP 461-62, 160-61. The court denied both motions, ruling the DeCourseys were not entitled to maintain their privilege assertions over the relevant and responsive documents Lane Powell requested. CP 232-33, 504-05. The DeCourseys moved to reconsider those orders and the motions were denied. CP 234-45, 588-89; see also CP 706-07. Nonetheless, the DeCourseys failed to produce the documents and did not seek a stay of the orders.

When it became clear the DeCourseys did not intend to comply with the trial court's orders, Lane Powell moved to compel the production of the documents. CP 752-60. The DeCourseys opposed, persisting in their claim of privilege. CP 942-52. Again, the trial court ordered the DeCourseys to produce the documents. CP 977-78. Again, the DeCourseys moved to reconsider (also denied) but refused to comply with the court's order and failed to seek a stay. CP 979-88, 1028-29.

F. As a Direct Result of Their Admitted Refusal to Comply with Numerous Court Orders, the DeCourseys' Affirmative Defenses and Counterclaims for Malpractice are Stricken

Due to the DeCourseys' continued refusal to comply with virtually every trial court order, Lane Powell was forced to move—three times—for contempt and discovery sanctions. CP 912-16, 1030-39, 1586-1675. The court granted all three motions and ordered the DeCourseys to pay Lane Powell's reasonable attorney fees. CP 1262-63, 2035-43, 2411-12. The

court found the DeCourseys' continued refusal to comply to be "without reasonable cause or justification and therefore [] willful and deliberate" (emphasis added) and "has prejudiced Plaintiff's preparation of this case." CP 1263. After both the Court of Appeals and the trial court denied the DeCourseys' (belated) request for a stay (CP 1266-67, 1342-43, 1393), and after the DeCourseys not only refused to comply with the trial court's orders but even ignored inquiries regarding their intentions for compliance, the trial court ultimately exercised its discretion and ordered their counterclaims and affirmative defenses stricken. CP 2035-43.

The trial court's order striking the DeCourseys counterclaims and affirmative defenses was thoughtful, careful, and deliberate. The trial court included pages of detailed findings, none of which the DeCourseys challenged on appeal. For instance, the court found that:

- The DeCoursey's discovery responses to Lane Powell were "incomplete." CP 2036.
- "Despite these orders, the DeCourseys still withheld discovery based on the same objections the Court had previously rejected." CP 2037.
- The DeCourseys "did not comply with the Court's orders and did not seek a stay." *Id*.
- "Despite the fact that the [court's orders] consistently rejected the DeCourseys' privilege arguments, they continued to obstruct discovery ... The DeCourseys' arguments in this regard are unreasonable and frivolous." CP 2038.

- As a result, "Lane Powell's efforts to litigate this case on the merits have been stymied." *Id*.
- The trial court's order on Lane Powell's motion for contempt "found their continued refusal to comply to be 'without reasonable cause or justification and therefore willful and deliberate." CP 2039.
- Despite the trial court's explicit prior warning that "further and more serious sanctions, including the possibility of striking claims, defenses, or pleadings, or entry of default may follow from any further failure to abide by court orders or rules," the DeCourseys "failed to comply with the" trial court's order. CP 2039-40.
- The DeCourseys even ignored Lane Powell's inquiries regarding their intentions for compliance. CP 2040.

### The trial court explained:

The discovery violations by Defendants are substantial and have been repeated despite this court's orders to compel. The imposition of further deadlines would not be likely to result in meaningful compliance. The discovery sought by Plaintiff is clearly material to its case and to its defense of Defendants' counterclaims and affirmative defenses. After considerable reflection on this case, the court is unable to conceive of any lesser sanction than striking Defendants' counterclaims and affirmative defenses that has any reasonable prospect of permitting Plaintiff to proceed to trial on the merits of its claim, in a reasonably timely manner.

CP 2041. The trial court again found that the refusal to comply with its orders had "been without reasonable cause or justification and therefore ... willful and deliberate[,]" *id.* (emphasis added), and that the DeCourseys

had substantially prejudiced Lane Powell's ability to prepare for trial. *Id*. Thus, the court concluded (at CP 2042):

Having considered lesser alternatives, the Court finds that such alternatives are not warranted under the circumstances. ... Considering the DeCourseys' extended pattern of willful disregard of this Court's orders, and the fact that this Court specifically warned the DeCourseys that these sanctions would result from continued non-compliance, the sanctions imposed are the only appropriate sanctions here.

The DeCourseys' motion to reconsider the trial court's dismissal of their affirmative defenses and counterclaims was likewise denied as was their attempt to seek interlocutory review. CP 2242-53, 2413-14, 3280-81. In denying the reconsideration motion, the trial court again made clear the care and thought that went into his decision:

Both before and after the entry of the July 6, 2012 Order, this Court has given substantial thought to the incentives that might persuade Defendants to engage in good-faith discovery, but on this record there is apparently nothing that the Court can do that would have that result, otherwise this motion for reconsideration would have been preceded by fully responsive answers to the outstanding discovery.

CP 2413-14. In other words, despite months and months of recalcitrance, the court remained willing to give the DeCourseys yet another chance if only they would abide by their discovery obligations. Because they would not, the consequences of their actions remained in place.

### G. The DeCourseys Consistently Make Bizarre and Unfounded Conspiratorial Accusations Against Lane Powell, the Trial Court, and Others

When the DeCourseys were not disregarding the trial court's orders, they occupied their time making bizarre and unfounded conspiratorial accusations against Lane Powell, the trial court, and others. A short (and by no means exhaustive) list includes:

- The DeCourseys demanded the trial court "clear the appearance of impropriety from the record" and "take disciplinary action" as to alleged *ex parte* contact between the court and Lane Powell that simply never occurred. CP 415-18; see also CP 552-53, 588-89.
- In connection with their eventual recusal motion, the DeCourseys made a veiled accusation against the entire King County Superior Court system, suggesting their case had been deliberately assigned to Judge Eadie as part of some conspiracy. CP 2708 n.1, 2753 n.1.
- They also accuse Judge Eadie of "bigotry towards DeCourseys" and "fraud." CP 2714-15.
- At the same time (and continuing throughout the case), the they claimed that "[t]his entire case to date has been tainted with Lane Powell's fraud on the court." CP 2752.
- The DeCourseys claimed, with no evidence whatsoever, that the trial court "punished DeCourseys for filing an ADAAA accommodation request." CP 2915.
- They argued the judge "encourag[ed]" them to claim privilege and "set [them] up for entrapment." CP 2920.

### H. The DeCourseys Move (Twice) to Recuse Trial Court Judge Eadie and Vacate All Previous Orders

After refusing to comply with the trial court's orders, losing in

their attempt to seek discretionary review, and looking for a way to obtain a do-over, the DeCourseys demanded that Judge Eadie recuse himself and vacate all orders based on an alleged "conflict of interest" that was not disclosed. CP 2707-16. Their entire argument rested on the proposition that he is somehow biased against the DeCourseys by virtue of his wife's part-time employment as a Windermere agent. CP 2708-09.

They made this serious accusation despite knowing that Ms. Eadie did not even work out of the same office that was involved in the underlying lawsuit and that during the pertinent year she made as little as \$4,000 (and certainly less than \$20,000) for the entire year. CP 2725, 2723. At the time of the DeCourseys motion, it seems that Ms. Eadie had only one listing for a single condo in Shoreline. CP 2723. Moreover, Windermere was not a party to the case before Judge Eadie and had lost the underlying case before a different judge.

Further, the "support" for the DeCourseys motion was lacking.

They presumed that "Windermere has been a benefactor to the Eadie family for almost a decade." CP 2710. They claimed that:

Judge Eadie's rulings against the DeCourseys have been so irrational, relentless, and prejudiced, and have departed so far from the accepted and usual course of judicial proceedings, it is hard to avoid the conclusion that, with the assignment of this case to Judge Eadie, the process was intended from the beginning to be an ambush.

CP 2864. They suggested that virtually all of the trial court's actions were part of some conspiracy to advance Lane Powell's interests and harm the DeCourseys. CP 2711-12. The DeCourseys belatedly filed an affidavit of prejudice on August 12, 2013. CP 2786-89, 2825-26.

The Court denied the DeCourseys' motion on September 5, 2012.

CP 2924-25. In denying the motion, the Court wrote (at CP 2924-25):

This case, Lane Powell v. DeCoursey, involves Plaintiff law firm's claim that Defendants have not paid the fees due Plaintiff for legal services rendered in a lawsuit involving Windermere Real Estate Company. Defendants, while they were being represented by Plaintiff, prevailed in that lawsuit and received a judgment in their favor that has now been satisfied as between Windermere and the parties to this action and concerning which all appellate remedies have been exhausted. As Plaintiff points out, both the Plaintiff and Defendants in this case were adverse to Windermere in the previous action.

Plaintiff's complaint in the case before this court makes no claims for relief from Windermere, nor does the Defendants' comprehensive and detailed Answer, Affirmative Defenses and Counterclaims. The present case was when filed, and remains today, an action brought by a law firm against a former client that it contends is obligated to it for unpaid fees. Windermere is not now, and never has been a party to this action.

Mrs. DeCoursey moved again seeking recusal and to vacate all of

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Their arguments relied on positions the trial court had properly rejected on numerous occasions, misstated the record, and ignored contrary evidence. For example, as they do here, they claimed the trial court allowed Lane Powell to violate court rules but ignored the fact the trial court had allowed them to file overlength briefs and otherwise violate court rules (including even on reply for their motion to recuse). E.g., CP 36-56, 189-96, 483-88, 2858-65, 5176-83.

Judge Eadie's orders. CP 5100-72. This motion was even more outlandish than the last. She demanded that the judge "apologize for using his status as a King County Superior Court judge to commit fraud." CP 5100. She accused him of using "his office to pursue a private agenda." CP 5100-01. She claimed that the trial court "functioned as a surrogate for Lane Powell and surreptitiously acted as a member of its legal team." Id.; see also CP 5109. She described the proceedings as a "Kangaroo Court." CP 5101, 5106, 5110. She again suggested that the entire King County Superior Court system was engaged in a conspiracy to stack the court against her "to achieve a pre-determined result," suggesting that "a fixer arranged [the] case assignment" to the trial court. CP 5102. She claimed Lane Powell and the trial court were sending secret signals to each other from the outset and that Lane Powell was "directing the court" and "calling the shots." *Id.*, 5105. She stated the trial court was "relying on advice given by Windermere's lawyers." CP 5104. She claimed that her own conduct in disregarding and refusing to comply with court orders was somehow "contrived" by Lane Powell and the trial court so that the court would have an excuse to strike her counterclaims and affirmative defenses. CP 5108. None of these claims were supported by appropriate evidence. The trial court likewise denied this motion. CP 5508-09. Lane Powell moved for summary judgment. The court granted that motion, CP

5522-27, specifically finding that Windermere "has no interest, direct or indirect, in the determination of the reasonableness of these fees or the hourly rates charged." CP 5527.

### I. The DeCourseys' Unsuccessful Appeal

The DeCourseys appealed challenging only the recusal orders and one aspect of the summary judgment. The Court of Appeals rejected their arguments. As the Court stated, "[w]here an allegation of partiality rests on speculation and illogical assumptions, it is not reasonable." Slip Op. at 1. The Court of Appeals articulated the correct standard, *id.* at 6, 8, and carefully applied it to the facts the DeCourseys claim mandated recusal, *id.* at 6-8, 9-10. The DeCourseys seek review.

#### IV. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE DENIED

The DeCourseys' petition for review is more notable for what it does not say than what it does. This is particularly so given the requirement that a petition for review include a "statement of the facts ... relevant to the issues presented for review." RAP 13.4(c)(6). A key fact the DeCourseys' discussion glosses over is that both parties in this case were adverse to Windermere in the underlying case. Moreover, the DeCourseys fail to mention the trial court's repeated efforts to provide them with additional chances to comply with court orders, which speaks volumes as to the court's efforts to be more than fair (and certainly not biased) in the

face of the DeCourseys' repeated and abusive conduct toward the court and Lane Powell. Further, their veiled accusations that the Court of Appeals judges appear biased against them as well are baseless. Pet. at 4-5. A fair view of the record here supports both the trial court's and the Court of Appeals' conclusion: recusal was not appropriate here and this case presents no issues that merit this Court's review.

### A. There is No Issue of Substantial Public Importance

The appearance of fairness doctrine as applied to the narrow question of potential bias relating to a judge's spouse is not an issue of substantial public importance and is certainly not on these facts. Pet. at 13. The DeCourseys make no effort to show this issue arises frequently or is in any way difficult to resolve when it does. Moreover, as the DeCourseys admit, as the opinion below is unpublished, it has no impact on the doctrine in this state. Even if it was an issue of public importance, the DeCourseys exaggerate the holding below. The Court of Appeals did not hold, as they claim, that only an attack accusing every single Winder-mere agent of misconduct could support a recusal claim. Pet. at 13. Instead, the opinion identified the proper standard and properly and sensibly applied it to the facts here, taking into account the whole record, while the DeCourseys' recitation is taken wholly out of context. Slip Op. at 6-10.

# B. There is No Conflict Among the Divisions of the Court of Appeals that This Court Should Resolve

As for the standard of review issue, the DeCourseys claim this Court should accept review of this case because other divisions of the Court of Appeals are failing to apply the proper standard this Court has recently articulated. Pet. at 19. It is unnecessary for this Court to grant review of this case to "resolve" a split between the Divisions. Indeed, according to the DeCourseys, the court resolved the issue in *In re King*, 168 Wn.2d 888, 899, 232 P.3d 1095 (2010). To the extent one exists, the Court should allow the other Divisions time to address the issue, rather than granting review of a case the DeCourseys claim applied the proper standard.

### C. There is No Significant Issue of Constitutional Law

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